
This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Aaron Leopold, Miquel Muñoz, Ph.D., Eugenia Recio, Anna Schulz, and Chris 
Spence. The Digital Editor is Leila Mead. The Editor is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org>. The Director of IISD Reporting Services is Langston James “Kimo” Goree 
VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the United Kingdom (through the Department for International Development – DFID), the Government 
of the United States of America (through the Department of State Bureau of Oceans and International Environmental and Scientific Affairs), the Government of Canada 
(through CIDA), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ), the German Federal Ministry 
for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety (BMU), the Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the European Commission (DG-ENV), and the Italian 
Ministry for the Environment, Land and Sea. General Support for the Bulletin during 2010 is provided by the Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of 
Australia, the Austrian Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry, Environment and Water Management, the Ministry of Environment of Sweden, the New Zealand Ministry 
of Foreign Affairs and Trade, SWAN International, Swiss Federal Office for the Environment (FOEN), the Finnish Ministry for Foreign Affairs, the Japanese Ministry of 
Environment (through the Institute for Global Environmental Strategies - IGES), the Japanese Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (through the Global Industrial and 
Social Progress Research Institute - GISPRI), the Government of Iceland, the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), and the World Bank. Funding for translation 
of the Bulletin into French has been provided by the Government of France, the Belgium Walloon Region, the Province of Québec, and the International Organization of 
the Francophone (OIF and IEPF). Funding for translation of the Bulletin into Spanish has been provided by the Spanish Ministry of the Environment and Rural and Marine 
Affairs. The opinions expressed in the Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD or other donors. Excerpts from the Bulletin may 
be used in non-commercial publications with appropriate academic citation. For information on the Bulletin, including requests to provide reporting services, contact the 
Director of IISD Reporting Services at <kimo@iisd.org>, +1-646-536-7556 or 300 East 56th St., 11A, New York, New York 10022, USA. The ENB Team at the Bonn 
Climate Change Talks - August 2010 can be contacted by e-mail at <chris@iisd.org>.

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations

Online at http://www.iisd.ca/climate/ccwg11/

AWGs
#4

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD)Vol. 12 No. 476 Thursday, 5 August 2010

Earth Negotiations Bulletin

AWG-LCA 11 AND AWG-KP 13 HIGHLIGHTS: 
WeDNeSDAy, 4 AUGUST 2010

Delegates met in contact groups and informal meetings to 
exchange views and negotiate on a range of issues. Under the 
AWG-LCA, meetings were held on shared vision, mitigation, 
adaptation, and financing. Under the AWG-KP, meetings were 
held on Annex I emissions reductions, LULUCF, mechanisms 
and methodological issues. 

AWG-LCA
SHAReD VISION DRAFTING GROUP: Delegates 

discussed the Chair’s text on shared vision (FCCC/
AWGLCA/2010/8, Chapter 1). On the aim and scope of the 
long-term vision (paragraph 1), developing countries proposed 
framing the vision in the context of equity and common but 
differentiated responsibilities. They also suggested that the 
shared vision should address all implementation gaps. A 
developing country proposed text on human rights, including 
rights of indigenous peoples, women, children and migrants. 

On emissions cuts and global temperatures (paragraph 2), 
one developing country added text stating that action should 
be “based on per capita accumulative historical emissions.” 
One group of developing countries said global temperatures 
should “stay well below a 1.5°C increase” from pre-industrial 
levels. However, another developing country sought to remove 
reference to specific temperature limits. Delegates also 
proposed text on: special national circumstances;  allocating 
the carbon budget until 2015 based on population and Annex 
I parties’ “climate emissions debt”; and returning atmospheric 
concentrations as close as possible to pre-industrial levels in the 
longer-term. 

MITIGATION DRAFTING GROUP: The group spent 
several hours discussing nationally appropriate mitigation 
actions (NAMAs) by developing countries. Parties made 
numerous textual suggestions to the Chair’s text (Chapter 1, 
paragraphs 28-51), with the text expanding from three to 11 
pages. The proposals covered a range of issues, including: new 
reporting requirements; MRV and ICA; types and scope of 
NAMAs; national sovereignty; the NAMA registry; support for 
NAMAs; nationally supported NAMAs; national inventories; 
and special reporting conditions for SIDS and LDCs. Due to 
lack of time, many parties could not make their contributions, 
and the meeting will resume on Thursday morning. 

ADAPTATION DRAFTING GROUP: Delegates decided 
to break into two small informal drafting groups to flesh out 
ideas on institutions (Chapter 2, paragraph 7). Before breaking 
out into groups, one developing country proposed adding a 

paragraph on the creation of an international climate insurance 
facility. Delegates reconvened in the main drafting group in 
the afternoon to present their proposals. A group of developed 
countries suggested focusing on providing guidance and advice, 
preferably through existing institutions. However, developing 
countries called for an adaptation committee under the 
Convention that would not only provide guidance but would also 
have a role in adaptation projects, providing technical support 
and advice. The group considered the functional role of the 
committee and clarified that it would not decide on projects as a 
whole, but would appraise and approve technical aspects based 
on COP guidelines. 

FINANCe, TeCHNOLOGy AND CAPACITy 
BUILDING DRAFTING GROUP: In the morning, delegates 
exchanged views on financial issues, particularly text on the 
new fund and proposed new body of the financial mechanism 
(Chapter 3, paragraphs 8-15). 

Delegates expressed diverging views on whether 
coordination, guidance to the COP and other governance or 
overview functions would best be met by a new body (paragraph 
14). Several developed countries said existing institutions could 
perform these functions. However, one developing country 
preferred a new body to perform key overview and coordinating 
functions. Two parties highlighted the role of a “forum of 
entities” (paragraph 13), and one suggested that such a forum 
could carry out some of the functions listed for either a new 
body or existing institution. 

On the operation of the fund, one developed country 
expressed concern about returning to the same debates from 
Copenhagen. He also said language on “direct access” to funds 
needed further clarification and proposed the World Bank as 
trustee of the Fund. 

On the board of the new fund, developing countries preferred 
nominating members at COP 16 rather than COP 17. Many 
developing countries supported including specific details on 
board composition, suggesting 19 members: three from each UN 
regional grouping; two from SIDS; and two from LDCs. Some 
developed countries preferred membership that is balanced 
between net contributors and net recipients. Discussions on 
these paragraphs continued in the afternoon in a spin-off group 
facilitated by Burhan Gafoor (Singapore), where parties further 
discussed coherence and coordination. 

Later in the afternoon, parties discussed sources of funding 
(Chapter 3, paragraphs 1-7). They reiterated previously-held 
positions on sources and amount of financing, with specific 
comments on: the role of the Copenhagen Accord; public versus 
private financing; assessed contributions by developed countries 



Thursday, 5 August 2010   Vol. 12 No. 476  Page 2
Earth Negotiations Bulletin

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

as a percentage of GDP; new and additional funding; funding 
allocation; predictability and adequacy of financing; fast-track 
financing; operationalization; contributions by developed country 
parties or all parties after 2013; transparency; conditionalities; 
the role of the High-Level Advisory Group on Climate Change 
Financing; and provisions for long-term financing and allocation. 
The drafting and spin-off groups will reconvene on Thursday.

AWG-KP
“NUMBeRS” CONTACT GROUP: The group focused on 

impacts affecting the overall level of ambition. Co-Chair Charles 
spent the remainder of the meeting soliciting party inputs on 
presentations of estimated ranges based on options emerging 
from technical negotiations. In particular, views were sought on 
options to address the implications of these ranges on the scale 
of emission reductions. 

On use of surplus AAUs and carry over, Co-Chair Charles 
said that based on previous discussions, the range of estimated 
surplus AAUs is 0.3-0.6 Gt CO2/year in 2020, and carry over 
is a total of 7-11 Gt CO2. He identified options to address 
the implications of this range, including: using existing rules; 
demand or supply side measures; using a cap or restricting use; 
or levies.

The EU asserted that levies are the most complicated option. 
SAUDI ARABIA wondered how to link these discussions to 
those in other AWG-KP groups. NEW ZEALAND underscored 
the possible disproportionate impacts of the different options on 
certain parties.

On LULUCF, Co-Chair Charles said the estimated use 
of LULUCF credits ranges from 5-8%, or possibly lower, 
depending on selection of certain options under negotiation. 
He said the following options could address implications for 
actual emission reductions: using existing rules; limiting use 
of, or removing, LULUCF credits from the system; removing 
the surplus where it includes LULUCF credits; or not using the 
LULUCF provisions of Protocol Article 3.7 (translating QELROs 
into AAUs).

BRAZIL, with CHINA, NORWAY and the RUSSIAN 
FEDERATION, said including experts from the LULUCF group 
would improve the discussions. ICELAND said LULUCF should 
not be seen as a loophole. NEW ZEALAND said forests should 
be characterized as stocks rather than flows. 

On mechanisms, Co-Chair Charles said the estimated size 
of CDM CERs demand is 5-6 Gt CO2. He emphasized that 
the implications on emission reductions could be addressed 
through using current rules and introducing new mechanisms, 
strengthening the additionality of CERs, or imposing a cap 
on mechanisms and supplementarity. The EU noted that these 
options are well refined within the current text on mechanisms 
and, with NEW ZEALAND, said they require a political 
decision. 

Following these discussions, Co-Chair Charles noted the 
need for a detailed outline of options on surplus AAUs, that 
options for LULUCF would benefit from joint discussions with 
the LULUCF contact group, and that additional discussions on 
mechanisms would be useful.

“OTHeR ISSUeS” GROUP: The group held informal 
consultations and group discussions on LULUCF, the 
mechanisms and a “basket” of methodological issues. 

“Basket of Issues” consultations: In the afternoon, informal 
consultations on the basket of methodological issues moved 
issue-by-issue through the Chair’s note (FCCC/KP/AWG/2010/6/
Add.4). Delegates addressed new gases and common metrics. 
Vice-Chair Macey encouraged parties to refine their ideas, 
resolve issues amongst themselves, and submit these to the 
Secretariat for inclusion in a new draft. 

Flexibility Mechanisms: Parties met for informal 
consultations on the flexibility mechanisms (FCCC/KP/
AWG/2010/6/Add.3) facilitated by AWG-KP Vice-Chair Macey. 
Issues discussed included: CCS under the CDM; nuclear energy 
under the CDM; standardized baselines; CERs; co-benefits of 
CDM; discount factors; joint implementation (JI); co-benefits of 
JI; carry over; share of proceeds for CERs issuance; emissions 
trading; new market mechanisms; and supplementarity.

Noting the high transaction costs of project-based mechanisms 
and the increasing complexity of baseline determinations, 
one developed county said that the CDM could be improved 
and supplemented with sectoral mechanisms. AWG-KP Vice-
Chair Macey noted that there was not much scope for further 
improvements to the text at this time, since the text already has 
clear options set out.

LULUCF: Co-Chair Rocha introduced harvested wood 
products (HWPs), explaining to the contact group that the 
Chair’s note on LULUCF (FCCC/KP/AWG/2010/6/Add.2) 
includes options on developing a set of rules on HWPs under 
LULUCF or excluding the HWPs section.  

NEW ZEALAND supported making progress on HWPs 
and considering principles of environmental integrity and 
transparency. He proposed including emissions accountability 
for HWP-producing countries, accountability measures to 
avoid gaps, and provisions for the sustainable use of HWPs. 
BELARUS and SINGAPORE noted concerns with avoiding 
double emissions accounting, tracking information and potential 
implications for other sectors. TUVALU supported further 
work on New Zealand’s proposal, emphasizing the need for 
clarification on, inter alia, defining forests and the potential 
perverse incentives for the conversion of natural forests into 
productive ones. 

CHINA requested clarification on potential implications for 
forestry and other sectors. BRAZIL raised concerns about HWPs 
in the context of the CDM, particularly relating to additionality. 
SUDAN suggested including text on sustainably-managed 
forests, while the EU proposed making forest management 
mandatory and said methodological issues should be further 
addressed to avoid double counting and improve consistency. 

During informal consultations in the afternoon, parties 
presented four proposals on: accounting for forest management; 
force majeure; use of HWPs; and a proposal on including 
reference levels. Co-Chair Rocha said these proposals would 
be incorporated in a non-paper to be submitted to the AWG-KP 
Chair for his consideration. Parties will resume their discussions 
on Thursday morning. 

IN ThE CorrIdors
“A text explosion” is how one delegate described the 

proliferation of proposals in several negotiating groups on 
Wednesday. With negotiators getting down to the business of 
reviewing draft text, some parties were quick to add their ideas, 
priorities and bargaining chips to the texts. The mitigation group 
witnessed a three-page document mushroom to 11 pages in three 
hours, while text also expanded rapidly in the group addressing 
shared vision.

“Wasn’t this precisely what the AWG-LCA Chair asked us 
not to do?” said one delegate. “I can’t believe we’re really going 
through this same procedure again—I feel like I’ve stepped back 
in time 12 months,” said another. 

However, the news was more upbeat from the adaptation 
group, with some participants “optimistic” following discussions 
on institutional arrangements. 


